1997 - 19

SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA

|                     |   | UEC and sources         |
|---------------------|---|-------------------------|
| STATE OF FLORIDA,   | ) | Star Draw Count         |
| Appellant,          | ) | CARCES CLIME            |
| VS .                | ) | CASE NO.: 74,439        |
| GREGORY ALAN KOKAL, | ) | LOWER CASE NO.: 83-8975 |
| Appellee.           | ) |                         |

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ED AUSTIN STATE ATTORNEY Jacksonville, Florida

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

## BACKGROUND

On October 20, 1983, the Appellee, GREGORY ALAN KOKAL, was indicted for First Degree Murder. (R.1). A Duval County petit jury subsequently found him guilty as charged and during the penalty phase recommended 12-0 that he be sentenced to death. (R.25). On November 14, 1984, Judge James L. Harrison sentenced Appellee to death. (R.21).

On July 17, 1986, this Court affirmed both the conviction and sentence. (R.24-29). Appellee subsequently made an application for clemency and the application was denied.

In September, 1988, the Appellee's attorneys filed numerous motions, among them a 155 page motion under Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, which sought to vacate and set aside the conviction and sentence. The motion also sought a stay of Governor Martinez's August 25, 1988 death warrant. A stay was entered by the trial judge and an evidentiary hearing was set on Appellee's 3.850 motion to set aside the conviction and sentence. (R.62).

#### CURRENT CONTROVERSY

Through numerous motions to compel and amended motions to compel, Appellee sought disclosure of the State Attorney file through the Public Records Act. On September 15, 1988, (R.33-35), September 19, 1988,

-1-

(R.51-52), and October 17, **1988**, (R.67-71), Appellee filed motions seeking the State Attorney file and other records. (T.4,5)(T.6).

Appellant stipulated and agreed to produce public records but objected to the production of the State Attorney file. (T.5-6). The State Attorney file, as argued in the subsequent hearing, contains essentially four types of documents:

1. Handwritten notes, evidence lists, outlines, opening and closing arguments, etc. prepared by the Assistant State Attorneys prosecuting the case;

2. Work product in the form of Assistant State Attorney mental impressions, conclusions, litigation strategy, or legal theory prepared for criminal litigation;

3. Discoverable reports, letters, sworn statements, depositions and other similar information;

4. Non-discoverable criminal intelligence and criminal investigative information in the form of reports and other documents.

On October 28, 1988 a hearing was held on Appellee's Motion to Compel the State Attorney File. On that same date, the trial judge, David C. Wiggins, granted Appellee's Motion to Compel and thus required the State to disclose the entire State Attorney file to Appellee. (R.95).

-2-

а

On November 10, **1988**, the State filed a Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal of the trial court's order. On January 30, **1989**, the trial court stayed the proceedings regarding Appellee's Motion to Set Aside the Conviction and Sentence and seeking a new trial, pending the outcome of the instant appeal.

In proceedings before the First District Court of Appeal, the State filed its brief on March 2, **1989.** The Court, in granting a second extension of time, required Appellee to file a brief by June 7, **1989.** Appellee never filed a brief.

On June 21, **1989**, the Appellee filed a Motion to Dismiss the State's Appeal on the grounds that the District Court lacked jurisdiction. After receiving pleadings from both sides addressing the jurisdictional issue, on July **18**, **1989**, the District Court of Appeal entered an order transferring this appeal to this Court.

On December 11, **1989**, this Court entered an order denying the Appellee's Motion to Dismiss the State's Appeal and directing that briefs be filed.

-3-

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in requiring disclosure of the entire State Attorney file. This error resulted from an overly broad demand by Appellee for the entire State Attorney file under the Public Records Act. The demand for the entire State Attorney file did not specify what was sought nor did it distinguish among: (1) non-public records, (2) public records which are not exempt from disclosure, or (3) public records which are exempt from disclosure. The trial court's order granting this overly broad demand was in error.

First, many of the documents contained in the State Attorney file are simply not public records and not subject to the Public Records Act. Assistant State Attorney handwritten notes, drafts, and other documents which were not intended to perpetuate, finalize, or formalize knowledge are not public records. <u>Shevin v.</u> <u>Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid, and Associates, Inc.</u>, 379 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1980). Examples include notes on order of proof, evidence lists, cross-examination questions, and other such documents.

Second, documents reflecting Assistant State Attorney mental impressions, conclusions, litigation strategy, or legal theory, which were prepared as formalized knowledge, and in anticipation of criminal litigation, are exempt from the Public Records Act until the "conclusion of the litigation or adversarial administrative proceedings."

-4-

Section 119.07(3)(0), Florida Statutes (1987). The trial court erred in failing to recognize this limited exemption in the Public Records Act.

Third, records which are discoverable and required to be given to Appellee are public records and no exemption The error of the trial court here was in not applies. recognizing that Appellee was properly entitled to these documents and in not drawing a distinction between non-public records and non-exempt public records. Under Section 119.011(3)(c)(5), Florida Statutes (1987), Satz v. Blankenship, 407 So.2d 396 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) and Bludworth v. Palm Beach Newspapers, 476 So.2d 775 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), Appellee was properly entitled to these documents. These records include arrest and booking reports, evidence technician's reports, lab reports, depositions, correspondence by a co-defendant or witness, medical examiner's reports and other such discoverable documents or documents which have been made public or provided to the defense. Appellant stipulates and agrees this is the current state of the law in Florida. Appellant further stipulates and agrees to disclose such documents if they exist.

Fourth, the only category of documents remaining --non-discoverable criminal intelligence and criminal investigative information --- are exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act under Section 119.07(3)(d), Florida Statutes (1987). This section provides that

-5-

"active criminal intelligence information and active criminal investigative information are exempt from the provisions of subsection (1)." (Requiring disclosure). Section 119.011(3)(d)(2), Florida Statutes (1987) states that this information "shall be considered 'active' while such information is directly related to pending prosecutions or appeals." The trial court erred in requiring disclosure of active non-discoverable criminal intelligence and investigative information.

The overriding error in the present case was the failure of the trial court to draw distinctions among the various types of documents contained in the State Attorney file. The file contains (1) non-public records, (2) public records which are not exempt from disclosure, and (3) public records which are exempt. The overly broad demand by Appellee in the present case led to the trial court's error.

The trial court's order should be reversed with instructions to modify the order to require disclosure of public records which are not exempt and to exclude from disclosure non-public records and public records which are exempt under the statute.

a

-6-

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING THAT THE ENTIRE STATE ATTORNEY FILE BE PRODUCED UNDER THE PUBLIC RECORDS ACT TO THE EXTENT THAT THE FILE CONTAINS NON-PUBLIC RECORDS, SUCH AS ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY HANDWRITTEN NOTES, OUTLINES OF QUESTIONS, DRAFTS, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS THAT WERE NOT INTENDED TO PERPETUATE, COMMUNICATE, OR FORMALIZE KNOWLEDGE.

The trial court's order, granting the Appellee's Motion to Compel Public Records, is simply too broad. Many of the documents contained in the State Attorney file are not public records.

Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, Florida's Public Records Act, defines a public record as follows:

**119.011** Definitions. - For the purpose of this chapter:

(1) "Public records" means all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, or other material regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency.

This Court specifically addressed this definition and its scope and limitations in <u>Shevin v. Byron, Harless</u>, <u>Schaffer, Reid, and Associates, Inc.</u> **379** So.2d **633** (Fla. 1980). In <u>Shevin</u>, this Court stated that the "definition limits public information to those materials which constitutes <u>records</u> --- that is, materials that have been prepared with the intent of perpetuating or formalizing

-7-

knowledge." Id. at 640. In addition, the Court went on to state specifically that:

а

a

[w]e hold that a public record, for purposes of Section 119.011(1), is any material prepared in connection with official agency business which is intended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge of some type. To be contrasted with "public records" are materials prepared as drafts or notes, which constitute mere precursors of governmental "records" and in themselves, intended not. as final are the knowledge to be recorded. evidence of Matters which obviously would not be public records are rough drafts, notes to be used in preparing some other documentary material, and tapes or notes taken by a secretary as dictation. Id. at 640.

Many of the documents in the instant case are precisely those discussed in Shevin --- notes and drafts that are preliminary in nature. More specifically, this case involves notes and drafts of the Assistant State Attorneys. In Orange County v. Florida Land Company, 450 So.2d 341 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the Fifth District applied Shevin to the notes, drafts, and trial preparation materials of In Orange County, the Court reiterated that attorneys. the key determination was whether the questioned document contained the final evidence of knowledge obtained. Often, trial preparation materials in the nature of inter-office or intra-office memoranda would meet this criteria.

Particularly important and applicable here, however, the Court found that the following documents did not constitute public records:

-8-

1. An outline of evidence needed for trial;

2. An outline of questions to be asked of a witness;

3. A proposed trial outline;

4. Handwritten notes from the meetings with attorneys; and

5. Notes regarding the deposition of an anticipated witness.

Id. at 344.

Shevin and Orange County are directly applicable to the instant case. Many of the handwritten documents by Assistant State Attorneys in the present case, such as evidence lists, tentative order of proofs, possible cross examination questions, opening and closing argument notes, deposition notes, etc., were never intended to formalize or finalize knowledge but were merely to assist the attorneys. The language of <u>Orange County</u> is directly applicable:

These documents are merely notes from the attorneys to themselves designed for their own personal use in remembering certain things. They seem to be simply <u>preliminary</u> guides intended to aid the attorneys when they later formalize the knowledge. We cannot imagine that the Legislature, in enacting the Public Records Act intended to include within the term "public records" this type of material. Id. at 344.

In the instant case, the trial judge mistakenly relied upon <u>Tribune Co. v. Public Records</u>, 493 So.2d 480 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). <u>Tribune Co.</u> does not apply to this issue. The Second District in Tribune Co. never addressed

-9-

the threshold question of what constitutes a public record. Instead, unlike the present case, a specific demand was made in <u>Tribune Co.</u> for specific documents. In <u>Tribune Co.</u>, there was no question the documents were public records. The question addressed in <u>Tribune Co.</u> was whether they were exempt under the Public Records Act.

The problem in the present case is that Appellee's demand for the entire State Attorney file, without specifying what documents were sought, is a broad "fishing expedition" that encompasses non-public records, public records, and exempt public records alike.

The trial court's order granting this overly broad request was an error. Non-public records are encompassed by the order and are not subject to the Public Records Act. Attorney notes, drafts, and other documents, which were preliminary in nature and not designed to perpetuate, communicate or formalize knowledge, should not have been encompassed by the lower court's order. This was error.

-10-

11. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING THAT THE ENTIRE STATE ATTORNEY FILE BE PRODUCED UNDER THE PUBLIC RECORDS ACT TO THE EXTENT THAT THE ORDER ENCOMPASSED RECORDS REFLECTING AN ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY'S MENTAL IMPRESSIONS, CONCLU-SIONS, LITIGATION STRATEGY, OR LEGAL THEORIES PREPARED FOR CRIMINAL LITIGATION.

While the attorney notes and drafts mentioned in Section I of this brief are not public records, attorney memoranda, such as inter-office and intra-office memoranda, which are intended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge, are in fact public records. <u>Coleman v. Austin</u>, **521** So.2d **247** (Fla. 1st DCA **1988).** The documents must be disclosed pursuant to a public records demand if no statutory exemption applies.

There is, however, a recently created limited attorney work product exemption under the Public Records Act that exists until the "conclusion of the litigation or adversarial administrative proceedings." Section 119.07(3)(o), Florida Statutes (1987). Section 119.07(3)(o) provides that:

A public record which was prepared by an agency attorney... or prepared at the attorney's expressed direction, which reflects a mental impression, conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory of the attorney or the agency, and which was prepared exclusively for civil or criminal litigation or for adversarial administrative proceedings, or which was prepared in anticipation of imminent civil or criminal litigation or imminent adversarial administrative proceedings, is exempt from the provisions of subsection (1) until the conclusion of the litigation adversarial administrative or proceedings.

-11-

In the present case, the trial judge ignored this exemption and ordered that the entire State Attorney file be produced. The lower court held that <u>Tribune Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, was controlling and the entire file had to be produced. (T.21-22). This was error.

<u>Tribune Co.</u> is clearly distinguishable. First, in <u>Tribune Co.</u>, the file of the Pasco County Sheriff was sought, not the State Attorney file. Second, the information sought in <u>Tribune Co.</u> was specific in nature, such as police reports, lab reports, arrest reports, etc.,<sup>1</sup> and was not a request for Assistant State Attorney notes, drafts, or work product. In fact, most of the information sought in <u>Tribune Co.</u> was discoverable.

Thirdly, in <u>Tribune Co.</u>, the information was sought by the following people: (1) Defendants who claimed it might exonerate them, (2) a brother and sister of a missing Tennessee woman who may have been the murder victim (identification of the victim was unclear), (3) the Tribune Company (publishers of the Tampa Tribune), and (4)

1

а

a

а

а

Unlike the present case, the demand in <u>Tribune Co.</u> was specific in nature. As stated by the Second District: "The information sought included: (1) investigative reports pertaining to the disappearance of the Tennessee woman; (2) police reports of the crime scene investigation; (3) transmittal sheets of evidence to a crime lab; (4) crime lab reports; (5) arrest reports; (6) information regarding other suspects; (7) statements of co-defendants and witnesses; (8) arrest records of particular witnesses; (9) a report of an autopsy of the victim with fingerprints and dental charts; (10) and a composite sketch of the victim." 493 So 2d at 482.

a reporter for the St. Petersburg Times. Each party had a recognized and special need for the requested information.

None of these compelling reasons for disclosure exists in the present case. Appellee does not claim he is innocent. In addition, the only party seeking the information is Appellee so that he may use it to assist in overturning the conviction and sentence as part of the 3.850 motion and for subsequent appeals and retrial, if a retrial results.

Fourth, the State in Tribune Co. alleged that the criminal investigative information at issue in that case from public disclosure under was exempt Section 119.07(3)(d), Florida Statutes (1987) which makes active criminal intelligence and investigative information The State alleged in Tribune Co. that the inforexempt. "active" within the meaning of Section mation was 119.011(3)(d)(2) which provides that this information will be considered 'active' when directly related to "pending prosecutions or appeals."

The Second District rejected this argument, stating that, given the posture of the <u>Tribune Co.</u> case, there was no "pending prosecutions or appeals" within the meaning of the statute and therefore the information sought was not "active." The Second District went on to hold specifically that:

The term 'pending appeals' as used in Section 119.011(3)(d)2 of the Florida Statute does not include... any other proceeding other than the first appeal of right. 493 So.2d at 484.

While this conclusion of the Second District will be addressed at length in Section IV of this brief, suffice it to say at this point that the Court was addressing criminal investigative information and not attorney work product. Even if the Second District was correct in its interpretation of the word "appeals" within the meaning of Section 119.011(3)(d)2, that was not the exemption applicable to attorney work product.

In short, the trial court's reliance upon <u>Tribune Co.</u> was misplaced. Requiring disclosure of the State Attorney file, including attorney work product of the nature just discussed, was error. The order was too broad and should have been limited to public records for which no exemption existed.

a

a

а

111. WHILE IT WAS ERROR TO REQUIRE PRODUCTION OF THE ENTIRE STATE ATTORNEY FILE, IT WAS CORRECT UNDER FLORIDA LAW TO REQUIRE DISCLOSURE OF DISCOVER-ABLE DOCUMENTS AND THOSE DOCUMENTS ALREADY PROVIDED TO APPELLEE IN THE PAST.

The majority of documents normally contained in the State Attorney file --- arrest and booking reports, evidence technician's reports, FDLE reports, medical examiner's reports, written statements of a witness or co-defendant, and depositions --- are properly the subject of a public records demand under current Florida law. Under Section 119.011(3)(c)5, Florida Statutes (1987), criminal intelligence information and criminal investigative information does not include documents given or required by the law to be given to the Defendant. Thus, documents discoverable under the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure are subject to a public records demand.

This interpretation was the ruling of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Satz v. Blankenship</u>, 407 So.2d 396 (Fla. 4th DCA **1981).** In <u>Satz</u>, the Fourth District held that a tape recording discoverable under the rules and produced to the Defendant was subject to a public records demand. Once produced, the need for secrecy no longer existed. The Court reaffirmed its ruling in <u>Bludworth v. Palm Beach Newspapers</u>, 476 So.2d 775 (Fla. 4th DCA **1985).** In addition, once the State goes public with information, even if the information was exempt from disclosure, no further purpose is served by non-disclosure

-15-

and the information is subject to a public records demand. <u>Downs v. Austin</u>, 522 So.2d **931** (Fla. 1st DCA **1988).** 

In the present case, Appellant stipulates that Appellee filed a demand for discovery in **1983** and that these types of documents --- lab reports, medical examiners reports, transmittal sheets, arrest and booking reports, depositions, written statements of a witness or co-defendant --- are properly the subject of a public records demand. The production of these documents is consistent with the ruling of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and does not compromise the prosecution or law enforcement since these documents were discoverable and produced to the Defendant from the outset.

The error of the trial court, however, was its failure to limit its order to the disclosure of public records to which no exemption applied. The across-theboard requirement to produce the entire State Attorney file was error. These documents, discoverable criminal intelligence and criminal investigative information, were properly the subject of a public records demand by Appellee and the court's order should have been properly limited to these documents.

-16-

IV. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING THAT THE ENTIRE STATE ATTORNEY FILE BE PRODUCED UNDER THE PUBLIC RECORDS ACT TO THE EXTENT THAT THE FILE CONTAINS NON-DISCOVERABLE ACTIVE CRIMINAL INTELLIGENCE INFORMATION AND NON-DISCOVERABLE ACTIVE CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIVE INFORMATION.

#### A. BACKGROUND

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