IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,439

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

GREGORY ALLEN KOKAL,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0122540

BILLY H. NOLAS JUDITH J. DOUGHERTY JOSEPHINE HOLLAND

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
1533 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Without reference to an exemption, the State first seeks to shield certain documents in its file, by labelling them "non-public" records (such as handwritten notes for trial or depositions). The State raises this objection to disclosure for the first time in its brief to this Court. Although the state attorney bears the burden of proving that these documents are exempt from disclosure, see, Florida Freedom Newspapers v.

Dempsey, 478 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the State did not even assert this objection in the court below. This Court should decline to reach the merits of this argument because the failure to assert it before the trial court is a waiver of the objection.

Assuming <u>arsuendo</u> that this argument is properly before the Court, appellant has improperly defined these materials as non-public records. The Act itself defines public records as follows:

- 119.011 Definitions. -- For the purpose of this chapter:
- (1) "Public records" means all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings or other material, resardless of physical

form or characteristics, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency.

(emphasis added). Thus, notes, drafts, and similar materials are public records in spite of their informal nature. Nonetheless, appellant argues that its file contains "non-public" records that should be exempt from disclosure under Shevin v. Byron, Harmless, Schaffer. Reid and Associates, 379 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1980). The analysis set forth in Shevin does not support appellant's contention that the state attorney file is immune from disclosure.

In Shevin, this Court considered whether a consulting firm hired to conduct a job search was required by the Public Records Act to release notes created by a psychologist while conducting confidential interviews of prospective job applicants.

Disclosure was sought by a television executive and the attorney general. See Shevin, 379 So. 2d at 635. The paramount concern of the Shevin court was maintaining the "promise of confidentiality to the persons interviewed." Id. An underlying premise of this right of confidentiality was the statutorily created psychotherapist-patient privilege. Fla. Stat. section 90.503. In Mr. Kokal's case, no statutory exemption or evidentiary privilege protects the state attorney's file from disclosure.

Appellant also contends that <u>Oranse County v. Florida Land</u>
<u>Company</u>, **450** So. 2d **341** (Fla. 5th DCA **1984**), <u>rev. denied</u>, **458** So.

2d **273** (Fla. **1984**), prevents disclosure of these records. The ruling in <u>Oranse County</u> was based on a request under the public records law for documents sought during pretrial discovery in a

civil proceeding. Obviously, that case differs significantly from the section 119 request in Mr. Kokal's case.

а

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

In Oranse County, the parties to a civil action were engage in pretrial discovery when one of the parties, a state agency, was requested to produce, before trial, certain trial preparation materials under the Public Records law. Oranse County, 450 So. 2d at 342. This case was decided before the public records act was amended to provide a statutory exemption for the disclosure during the pendency of a suit of records classified as attorney work product. Compare Oranse County, 450 So. 2d at 343, with Fla. Stat. section 119.07(o). As will be discussed below, that analysis does not apply here — the "suit" in Mr. Kokal's case ended when the State successfully obtained an affirmance of the conviction and death sentence on direct appeal.

The analysis applied in <u>Orange County</u> may not be applied to Mr. Kokal's requests: the <u>Oranse County</u> court relied on the decision in <u>Shevin</u> to prevent the disclosure of attorney work product during pretrial discovery. The <u>Oranse County</u> decision was thus concerned with the unfair disclosure burden placed on state agencies during pretrial discovery in a civil suit that was not faced by private litigants. The situation addressed by the court in <u>Oranse County</u> could not arise today because the public records act has been <u>substantially</u> amended to preclude the pretrial disclosure of attorney work product during a pending suit. <u>Orange County</u> does not create an exemption that prevents the state attorney from disclosing the files in Mr. Kokal's case.

The state attorney cannot support the argument that "notes,

drafts and trial preparation material" are exempt from disclosure because these items are allegedly defined as non-public records (Appellant's Brief at 8). Trial preparation material regardless of whether it is handwritten or typed is clearly attorney work product. Hillsboroush County Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Company, 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). attorney work product privilege is only a qualified privilege that primarily applies to pretrial discovery. Since there is a mechanism for discovery in that setting (i.e., the Rules of Civil Procedure), the right to access protected by the Public Records Act becomes virtually irrelevant. In contrast, under the Public Records Act, materials such as trial preparation notes, mental impressions, legal theories and notes about the strength or weakness of a juror or witness contained in the state attorney's files <u>must</u> be produced. Hillsboroush County, supra; Edelstein V. Donner, 450 So. 2d 562, approved, 471 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1985). There is no other mechanism for Mr. Kokal to obtain these materials. Just as significantly, there is no applicable statutory exemption.

The State suggests that certain trial preparation documents in its file are non-public because they are "preliminary" in nature, although the State has not specifically identified these documents and has not offered them for appropriate in camera review. See Tribune Co. v. In re: Public Records, 493 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). The State, citing Oranse County, contends that the key question for determining whether the document is a public record is whether the document constitutes the final evidence of knowledge obtained. The legislature's

amendment adding an exemption for attorney work product request while suit is pending shows that its sole concern is whether litigation is in progress. Here, Mr. Kokal's original criminal litigation is no longer in progress — it ended with the affirmance on direct appeal. There is no "final" as opposed to "preliminary" evidence exemption. If the legislature believed such an exemption to be appropriate, it would have established one. The fact that the legislature did not establish one is quite telling.

Furthermore, notes, drafts, outlines and similar materials are precisely the <u>final materials</u> to which Mr. Kokal needs access. Mr. Kokal seeks these documents in connection with post-conviction review of his capital trial and sentencing. It is essential to review these materials to determine if those proceedings were fair and constitutionally valid. Notes and similar materials are final evidence of the conduct of the state attorney's office of events and circumstances of the original proceedings. Indeed, claims predicated upon <u>Napue v. Illinois</u>, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), and other claims that misleading or inaccurate evidence may have been used by the State can only be proven through the use of the prosecutor's notes.

These materials differ from the materials the <u>Shevin</u> court found not to be public records. In <u>Shevin</u> the court protected preliminary notes made during job interviews. Those notes were ultimately formally recorded in reports and memoranda. <u>Shevin</u>, 379 So. 2d at 635, 640-41. Whether misleading information was used in job interviews was not at issue in <u>Shevin</u>. Whether

misleading evidence was used at trial is often at issue in capital 3.850 proceedings. In <u>Shevin</u>, after all, there was formalized evidence.

In contrast, there is no formal evidence of the questioned materials in Mr. Kokal's case. The trial itself is not formal evidence of the state attorney's file. It does not reveal all conduct by the prosecutors; it does not reveal information prosecutors possessed but did not disclose to the defense or use at trial. The state attorney's file itself <u>is</u> the final evidence of such information, and is what is at issue when a petitioner litigates a claim founded on <u>Brady</u> and its progeny.

Materials such as these often reveal significant constitutional errors and grounds for meritorious post-conviction claims, such as claims under Bradv.Maryland, 373 U.S. 83

(1963). A capital defendant should not be executed on the basis of a wrongful or unreliable capital conviction and/or sentence of death when the evidence demonstrating that the conviction or sentence is "wrongful" was withheld by the State at trial. Such conduct "preclude(s) the development of true facts [and] result(s) in the admission of false ones," and "pervert(s) the (sentencer's) deliberations concerning the ultimate question whether in fact [the defendant deserves to die]." Smith v.
Murray, 106 S. Ct. 2639, 2668 (1986).

Florida cases in which material was wrongfully withheld under <u>Bradv</u> and in which the truth came to light because of section 119 are too numerous to cite. They include <u>Roman v. State</u>, 528 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1988), wherein this Honorable Court ordered a new trial on the basis of information uncovered

pursuant to a section 119 request. Information disclosed pursuant to section 119 was what "saved" the two wrongfully convicted men of the Tribune Co. case: William Riley Jent and Ernest Lee Miller. Both those men faced execution by electrocution until public access into the prosecutor's files revealed that they were prosecuted for the murder of a victim whose identity was in serious dispute. See Miller v. Wainwright, 798 F.2d 426 (11th Cir. 1986). Those men are not on death row today.

а

Recently the same trial judge who ordered disclosure in Mr. Kokal's case, Judge Wiggins, ordered this same State Attorney's Office to produce its file to another death row inmate, Charles Kight. Although initially refusing Mr. Kight's 119 request the state attorney did comply with the judge's order. Review of that file revealed handwritten notes and correspondence that established a Brady claim which is currently before this Court. Kight v. State, Case No. 75,086.

Other illustrative cases include <u>State v. Routly</u>, Case No. 79-1270-CF-A-01 (Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, in and for Marion County). As a result of a 119 request, inspection of the State Attorney's files in that case revealed an immunity agreement that had not been provided to defense counsel at trial. Regardless of the eventual outcome of this claim, it is precisely the type of claim which should be settled in post-conviction litigation, and at the earliest possible opportunity. The legitimate need for secrecy in a prosecutor's file prior to conviction dissolves once a criminal defendant stands convicted.

Thereafter, particularly in a death penalty case, society's need for reassurance that the conviction was lawfully obtained becomes paramount. If the State has fulfilled its ethical duty to abide by the Constitution, then its file will provide no need for or possibility of a reversal and a retrial. On the other hand, if the State has not played by the rules, that should not be kept a secret until after an execution. Messrs. Jent and Miller are living examples. See also Brown v. Wainwright, 785 F.2d 1457 (11th Cir. 1986) (granting federal habeas corpus relief because a Florida prosecutor knowingly presented perjured testimony);

Troedel v. Dugger, 828 F.2d 670 (11th Cir. 1987) (same, intentional use of misleading testimony); Aranao v. State, 497
So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 1986) (new trial ordered because evidence withheld in violation of Bradv v. Maryland and United States v. Bagley); Roman, supra.

The list of examples is quite convincing with regard to the efficacy of section 119 as a tool for the ascertainment of truth. It is clear, however, that when material wrongfully withheld by a state attorney under <u>Brady</u>, or its progeny of cases, is finally brought to light, the courts are quick to order relief. Mr. Kokal is no less entitled to know if there was <u>Brady</u> error in his trial than any other post-conviction litigant.

The District Courts of Appeal, like the circuit courts, have consistently found that section 119 disclosure is more than proper in post-conviction actions. While this Court has not yet directly ruled on the issue, it has indicated that it also believes section 119 has long provided the access which Mr. Kokal and his counsel seek. In <u>Demps v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 196 (Fla.

1987), this Court ruled that information obtained by means of section 119 in a successive capital post-conviction action would not excuse an untimely petition for post-conviction relief because such information was available to the defendant under the Public Records Act in earlier proceedings:

Demps next alleges that, after repeated requests, the state withheld evidence impeaching witness Hathaway's credibility. He claims that he only recently obtained the information after invoking the Florida Public Records Act, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes (1985). The act was equally available to Demps prior to January 1, 1987, the cut off date for post-conviction relief in the instant case. Rule 3.850 bars an untimely petition based on information previously ascertainable through the exercise of due diligence. . . . These issues are now barred.

Id. at 197-98 (emphasis added). If the Court did not believe that disclosure under section 119 was available to the defendant, it would not have barred Mr. Demps' claim and denied a stay of execution. It was because of the availability of section 119 disclosure well before the successive Rule 3.850 motion was filed that the Court found the claim to be procedurally barred.

The need to review the entire state attorney's file is clear. Mr. Kokal's 119 request, and the trial court's order, was not "a fishing expedition," as the State appears to assert. It was and is the only way Mr. Kokal can fully assess and present his post-conviction case. Mr. Kokal specifically requested items that were the same types of materials requested in Tribune Co.
The state attorney should produce those items and its entire file in response to Mr. Kokal's public records request.

11. ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT MUST BE DISCLOSED BECAUSE THE PROSECUTION OF MR. KOKAL'S CASE HAS BEEN CONCLUDED.

Appellant concedes that attorney work product as well as inter and intra office memoranda are public records that should be subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act (Appellant's Brief at 11). The State Appellant nevertheless asserts that these records, which the courts have repeatedly held to be subject to disclosure, **see** Shevin; <u>Hillsborough</u>; <u>Edelstein</u>, are nonetheless exempt from disclosure under the statutory exemption in 119.07(3)(0).

The State argues that Mr. Kokal is not claiming innocence and has no compelling need for the documents sought. This argument has two flaws. First, Mr. Kokal does have a compelling need for the documents. He faces a death sentence and without these materials his post-conviction proceedings can never be adequate or complete. Second, Mr. Kokal does not have to show a compelling need -- the statute provides for disclosure and the custodian has the burden of proving an exemption applies. See Florida Freedom Newspapers, 478 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Florida courts have repeatedly held that the Public Records
Act is to be liberally construed in favor of open government.

Bludworth v. Palm Beach Newspapers, Inc., 476 So. 2d 775 (Fla.
4th DCA 1985). Such open government preserves our freedom by
permitting full public participation in the governing process.

City of Miami Beach v. Berns, 245 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1971); Board of
Public Instruction v. Doran, 224 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1969); see

Wolfson v. State, 344 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). Thus, every
public record is subject to the examination and inspection

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